## UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-20-2014

# Cazier v. Idaho Dept. of Health & Welfare Appellant's Brief Dckt. 42184

#### Argument

The record is very clear in both the substantial prejudice the appellant has suffered and that the Department has clearly erred in all five of the areas outlined above.

These errors were compounded when the District court ignored the fact the both the Hearing officer and the Department in their review decisions were supported by the evidence in the record as a whole. The hearing officer's decision states on page 2 paragraph 4 (on page 53 of the AGENCY'S RECORD) that: "She (Ronda) argued that it is cost-effective to pay the premium for Carmen and Clancey – the employee plus child coverage tier under her employer's health plan. It is not cost-effective to the State to pay for an increased premium which would cover other members of the family who are not Medicaid eligible – the family coverage tier." Likewise the Department's final decision states "Since only Clancey was on Medicaid, and it was not cost effective for the state to include the medicaid ineligible family members, the hearing officer appropriately ruled that the cost of any additional insurance coverage of the other family members was not relevant to the HIPP determination. "

These statement are entirely false. Ronda never made the statement that the hearing officer quoted nor anything like it. Even if she had made such a statement it was controverted by the evidence and testimony. Appellant's Exhibits D (Pages 19-23AGENCY'S RECORD) and E (Page 24-33 AGENCY'S RECORD) show the cost of medications and medical services for only Clancey for 1 year. These total \$15,451.46 for medications and \$6,433.72 in medical treatment. These do not

include the dental and vision treatment cost for Clancey. The Department's exhibit 2 (Page 40 AGENCY'S RECORD) shows the cost of the family insurance premium to be \$370.57 semimonth or a total annual premium of \$8,893.68. Ronda from the Department had already reviewed these records just prior to her reducing the reimbursement amount and concluded that the payment of the entire family premium was and is cost effective. (her email dated September 27, 2012 In the AGENCY'S RECORD Page 70 top of the page) wherein she is discussing the appeal and States "Your HIPP case with only Clancey on it is currently cost effective and has been so that is not an issue."

In addition to this the Appellant stated frequently in the hearings that the entire family premium was cost effective when only considering the cost saving to the State for Clancey's medical cost. He states the entire family health insurance plan is cost effective for Clancey. He explains this very distinctly. Several times after that in both hearing he again restates that the entire family premium was cost effective for the State. Appellant was a sworn witness at the hearing. (Transcript of hearing Page 9 line 16 through page 10 line 9, page 11 line 10 through page 11 line 22 and page 41 line 7). Never at any point was that statement challenged or controverted. It is beyond imaging where the hearing officer came up with that argument that the family health plan was not cost effective. This was not the determination of the Department and is contrary to all the evidence and testimony.

The District court never acknowledged this fact and instead ruled that the Department could reimburse at a rate lower than the actual cost of the family insurance plan. This was an argument

that Ronda of the Department had made before the Hearing officer and Marlene Klein also of the Department argued in her brief in the Department review. Neither the hearing officer nor the Department accepted this argument and stated their sole reason for denying the appeals was because the family insurance plan was not cost effective. This cost effective issue is what the District court should have reviewed and which the Appellant now pleads this court to consider and remand the matter back to the Department with instructions that the evidence clearly shows the Family insurance plan is cost effective. The court may also want to instruct the Department that it's regulations do not supercede the Federal mandates IE 42 USC 1397ee(c)(3) on reimbursement of family insurance plans.

Continuing with the requirements for this court to correct the errors of the Department, the substantial prejudice is nearly self evident in that the Department has reduced the reimbursement for the privately purchased insurance to less than one-third of the cost of the insurance. So the substantial prejudice is approximately \$500.00 per month.

Secondly, the Department was in violation of statutory provisions on at least two points. 42 USC 1396e (c) reads in pertinent part:

"(B) If all members of a family are not eligible for medical assistance under this subchapter and enrollment of the members so eligible in a group health plan is not possible without also enrolling members not so eligible—

(i) payment of premiums for enrollment of such other members shall be treated as payments for medical assistance for eligible individuals, if it would be cost-effective (taking into account payment of all such premiums), but

(ii) payment of deductibles, coinsurance, and other cost-sharing obligations for such other members shall not be treated as payments for medical assistance for eligible individuals. "

Further 1397ee(c)(3) states that"(3) Waiver for purchase of family coverage

Payment may be made to a State under subsection (a)(1) of this section for the purchase of family coverage under a group health plan or health insurance coverage that includes coverage of targeted low-income children only if the State establishes to the satisfaction of the Secretary that—

(A) purchase of such coverage is cost-effective relative to-

(i) the amount of expenditures under the State child health plan, including administrative expenditures, that the State would have made to provide comparable coverage of the targeted lowincome child involved or the family involved (as applicable); or

(ii) the aggregate amount of expenditures that the State would have made under the State child health plan, including administrative expenditures, for providing coverage under such plan for all such children or families; and

(B) such coverage shall not be provided if it would otherwise substitute for health insurance coverage that would be provided to such children but for the purchase of family coverage."

Although the State of Idaho has established a program of reimbursement of privately purchased insurance under the HIPP program the Department in this case chooses after over 9 years of paying for family insurance plan not to follow the statute by reducing the reimbursing to the

premium of another less expensive policy.

These statutes do not mention partial payment of premiums, partial reimbursement of premium payment nor the State selecting the policy. It is very clear in stating "the medicaid agency pays <u>all</u> premiums," and "medicaid agency pays premiums for enrollment of other family members when cost-effective.". In the subject case the premium has always been for a family health plan. An employee and child is not what was purchased. It is a family health plan. No where in these statutes or regulations is the Department allowed to pick what plan is purchased nor dictate that it will only pay what would be paid under some other health plan. The rule is clear that (i) payment of premiums for enrollment of such other [family] members shall be treated as payments for medical assistance for eligible individuals, if it would be cost-effective (taking in to account payment of <u>all</u> such premiums),"

There is no ambiguity in these laws nor any mention of partial payment. The term repeatedly used is "ALL".

If that were not enough 1397ee(c)(3)"Waiver for purchase of family coverage" which the Hearing officer's decision cites, clearly states "Payment may be made to a State under subsection (a)(1) of this section for the purchase of family coverage under a group health plan or health insurance coverage..."

Additionally the Department was in violation of the statutory provisions by ignoring § 431.230 Maintaining services. Which states in part; "(a) If the agency mails the 10-day or 5-day notice as required under § 431.211 or § 431.214 of this subpart, and the recipient requests a hearing before the date of action, the agency may not terminate or reduce services until a decision is rendered after the hearing unless—

(1) It is determined at the hearing that the sole issue is one of Federal or State law or policy; and(2) The agency promptly informs the recipient in writing that services are to be terminated or reduced pending the hearing decision. "

On page 58 of the AGENCY'S RECORD the Hearing officer stated after citing the above regulation that;"The hearing officer concludes that § 431.230 does apply in this action, as if falls under the fair hearing procedures set forth as Subpart E of the State Organization and General Administration of Medicaid. Because the date of action – reducing services – was prior to the hearing date, the Department was obligated to continue services pending the outcome of this appeal. "

Nevertheless the Department ruled in it's FINAL DECISION AND ORDER, that; Base upon the guidance and interpretation published by CMS, the hearing officer erred in concluding that the federal notice provisions applied in these proceeding. For this reason, Paragraphs 3 and 4 of the hearing officer's Conclusions of Law Preliminary Order, PP. 7-8 are reversed and set-aside."

No guidance nor interpretation published by CMS has ever been entered into evidence nor put forth in any previous oral presentation or testimony. It can not just suddenly appear in the Department's review decision.

Third; the Department was in excess of their statutory authority. As cited above 42 USC 1396e (c) and 42 USC 1397ee(c)(3) the state is given authority to establish a reimbursement plan for the purchase of private insurance. They are not giving authority for partial reimbursement. This is what the Department wished to do in this case and it is clearly in excess of the Department's statutory authority. Likewise the Department can not chose the policy purchased. Their role is to determine if the entire premium is cost effective.

Appellant has been unable to find any state or federal court decisions ruling on these Federal statutes. This lack of judicial review is evidence that the statutes are so clear in their language that no state has ever challenged it in a court proceeding.

The Department's decision and implementation were made upon unlawful procedure First the emailed notice of a change in benefits was not mailed nor was any notice of the right to appeal or to continue to receive benefits pending a hearing conveyed to the Caziers. Second, when a notice was finally mailed in December it had an effective date of September. These actions and inactions were a complete abortion of the State IDAPA and the Federal medicaid law that are in place to avoid this exact type of action.

The decision to reduce the reimbursement rate was arbitrary, capricious and an abuse of discretion. For over nine years the Department had reimbursed at the family insurance rate per 42 USC 1397ee(c)(3). Then suddenly the Department changed it's mind and decides that the reimbursement rate was being reduced because two of the children were no longer eligible for medicaid. This was immaterial as the rate is the same for 1 child or more. This is clearly shown on the rate card exhibit 2 (Page 40 AGENCY'S RECORD). Ronda finally agreed with that in her email of September 25, 2012 (Second email on Page 70 AGENCY'S RECORD). Still the Department immediately reduced the payment. Then arbitrarily sent a letter on December 10<sup>th</sup> notifying of a reduced rate. This action of post dating a change in benefits is also an abuse of discretion.

#### CONCLUSION

The Departments decisions are based a the false idea that the family health plan coverage is not cost effective. Neither the hearing officer nor the Department presented any other interpretation of the clear language of the statutes nor reason for reducing the reimbursement rate from a family rate to some other rate.

The Department's actions and decisions are clearly sufficient for this court to remand the matter back to the Department. Then the Department can render a decision based on the fact that the family health premium is cost effective and hold a hearing to determine if in fact the cost to the family for the insurance plan is a higher cost for the family policy than is shown on the rate card because of the use of BENEFLEX dollars.