Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-18-2014

Cazier v. Idaho Dept. of Health & Welfare Respondent's Brief Dckt. 42184

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case:

This is an appeal form the state of Idaho, Department of Health and Welfare's (Department) decision to reduce the insurance premium reimbursement made to the Cazier family under the Health Insurance Premium Payment program (HIPP).

B. <u>Course of Proceedings:</u>

Mr. Cazier (Cazier) and his wife, Carmen Wright, have several children and had been participating in the HIPP under a family-tier reimbursement plan. In September 2012, the Department determined that there was only one child that was a remaining Medicaid eligible member of the family. On December 10, 2012, Cazier received a notice from the Agency advising that the Health Insurance Premium Program (hereafter HIPP) reimbursement would be changing due to the number of people eligible for Medicaid in the household and cost effectiveness.

Cazier submitted a timely request for fair hearing. An evidentiary hearing was held on January 15 and February 5, 2013. The hearing officer issued the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Preliminary Decision on February 19, 2013 that affirmed the Department's decision to reduce the HIPP reimbursement to Cazier. He requested a timely administrative review pursuant to Idaho Code §67-5245. On May 16, 2013, the Director's Office entered a Final Decision and Order affirming the hearing officer's decision. Cazier then filed a Petition for Judicial Review of the Director's Decision. On January 29, 2014, a Memorandum Opinion and Order on Petition for Judicial Review

was entered. It was amended by the Court and entered on February 7, 2014. Both decisions upheld the decision made by the Department. Cazier then filed a motion for reconsideration of the Amended Memorandum Opinion and Order entered by the District Court. On April 11, 2014, the District Court entered a Memorandum Opinion and Order on Motion to Reconsider denying the motion for reconsideration and affirming the Amended Memorandum Opinion Order on Petition for Judicial Review filed on February 7, 2014.

C. Statement of Facts

Cazier and his wife, Carmen Wright, (Wright) have several children. Wright, Cazier and the children were being covered through the insurance program offered through Wrights' employer. The family had been participating in the HIPP under a family-tier reimbursement plan. In September, 2012, it was determined that only one child remained Medicaid eligible. The Department determined that the medical insurance program available to Wright through her employer offered coverage for the employee and one child. The premium for this coverage was substantially reduced from that premium for the family-tier coverage. The Department, on or about September 20, 2012, then sent written notice to Cazier and Wright that effective October 1, 2012, the HIPP would no longer reimburse at the family-tier rate, but that all future reimbursement would be at the employee-one child rate.

The Department determined that the HIPP reimbursement reduction was not a benefit change and therefore not subject to an appeal for a fair hearing. Nevertheless, the Department sent a letter on December 10, 2012 re-advising Cazier of its decision to

-2-

reduce the amount of HIPP reimbursement to the employee-one child premium and it provided a notice of appeal if the Department's decision was disagreed with.

II. ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. Did the Department's *Final Decision and Order* correctly uphold the Department's decision to reduce the insurance premium reimbursement payment under the HIPP?

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Judicial review of the Department's decision is limited by the Idaho Administrative Procedures Act. Specifically, the Court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. Idaho Code §67-5279(1). Further, the Court shall affirm the agency action unless the Court finds the decision was (1) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions, (2) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency, (3) made upon unlawful purpose, (4) not supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole; or (5) was arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion. Idaho Code §67-5279(3).

The standard of judicial review of an agency action is prescribed by statute. Under the Idaho Administrative Procedures Act, a reviewing court is required to affirm the agency's decision unless its findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are: (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency; (c) made upon unlawful procedure; (d) not supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole; or (e) arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion. I.C. § 67-5279(3). Accordingly, this Court defers to the agency's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *Lane Ranch P'ship. v. City of Sun Valley*, 144 Idaho 584, 588, 166 P.3d 374, 378 (2007) (citing *Friends of Farm to Market v. Valley County*, 137 Idaho 192, 46 P.3d 9 (2002)). Further, the agency decision must prejudice a substantial right of the Appellant. I.C. § 67-5279(4); *Price v. Payette County Bd of County*

Comm'rs, 131 Idaho 426, 429, 958 P.2d 583, 586 (1998) 166 P.3d 374, 378 (2007) (citing Friends of Farm to Market v. Valley County, 137 Idaho 192, 46 P.3d 9 (2002)).

Kootenai Medical Center, ex rel. Teresa K. v. Idaho Department of Health and Welfare, 147 Idaho 872 216 P.3d 630 (Idaho 2009).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Health Insurance Premium Program Background (HIPP)

The HIPP reimbursement program is designed to save Medicaid costs by providing insurance premium payment reimbursement if it meets the cost-effective requirements. The relevant federal authority for HIPP and the definitions, in pertinent part are as follows:

42 U.S. Code § 1396e (c) - Enrollment of individuals under group health plans (emphasis added)

- (a) Requirements of each State plan; guidelines (underline added)
- Each State plan—
- (3) may implement guidelines established by the Secretary, consistent with subsection (b) of this section, to identify those cases in which enrollment of an individual otherwise entitled to medical assistance under this subchapter in a group health plan (in which the individual is otherwise eligible to be enrolled) is cost-effective (as defined in subsection (e)(2) of this section);
- (2) may require, in case of an individual so identified and as a condition of the individual being or remaining eligible for medical assistance under this subchapter and subject to subsection (b)(2) of this section, notwithstanding any other provision of this subchapter, that the individual (or in the case of a child, the child's parent) apply for enrollment in the group health plan; and
- (3) in the case of such enrollment (except as provided in subsection (c)(1)(B) of this section), shall provide for payment of all enrollee premiums for such enrollment and all deductibles, coinsurance, and other cost-sharing obligations for items and services otherwise covered under the State plan under this subchapter (exceeding the amount otherwise permitted under section 13960 of this title), and shall treat coverage under

the group health plan as a third party liability (under section 1396a (a)(25) of this title).

(b) <u>Premiums considered payments for medical assistance; eligibility</u> (underline added)

(1)

- (A) In the case of payments of premiums, deductibles, coinsurance, and other cost-sharing obligations under this section shall be considered, for purposes of section 1396b (a) of this title, to be payments for medical assistance.
- (B) If all members of a family are not eligible for medical assistance under this subchapter and enrollment of the members so eligible in a group health plan is not possible without also enrolling members not so eligible-
- (i) payment of premiums for enrollment of such other members shall be treated as payments for medical assistance for eligible individuals, if it would be cost-effective (taking into account payment of all such premiums), but
- (ii) payment of deductibles, coinsurance, and other cost-sharing obligations for such other members shall not be treated as payments for medical assistance for eligible individuals.
- (2) The fact that an individual is not enrolled in a group health plan under this section shall not change the individual's eligibility for benefits under the State plan, except insofar as section 1396(a)(25) of this title provides that payment for such benefits shall first be made by such plan.....
- (e) <u>Definitions</u> (underline added)

In this section:

- (1) The term "group health plan" has the meaning given such term in section 5000(b)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and includes the provision of continuation coverage by such a plan pursuant to title XXII of the Public Health Service Act [42 U.S.C. 300bb–1 et seq.], section 4980B of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, or title VI of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.
- (2) The term "cost-effective" has the meaning given that term in section 1397ee (c)(3)(A) of this title.

42 U.S. Code § 1397ee(c)(3) Waiver for purchase of family coverage (emphasis added)

Payment may be made to a State under subsection (a)(1) of this section for the purchase of family coverage under a group health plan or health insurance coverage that includes coverage of targeted low-income children only if the State establishes to the satisfaction of the Secretary that-

- (A) purchase of such coverage is cost-effective relative to
- (i) the amount of expenditures under the State child health plan, including administrative expenditures, that the State would have made to provide comparable coverage of the targeted low-income child involved or the family involved (as applicable); or
- (ii) the aggregate amount of expenditures that the State would have made under the State child health plan, including administrative expenditures, for providing coverage under such plan for all such children or families;

42 U.S. 1396e (c), (e) and 1397ee(c)(3).

The state through the Idaho Administrative Procedures Act states that participants must apply for and enroll in a cost-effective group health plan if one is available:

GROUP HEALTH ENROLLMENT. Title XIX and Title XXI participants must apply for and enroll in a cost-effective group health plan if one is available. A cost-effective health plan is one which has premiums and co-payments at a lower cost than Medicaid would pay for full medical services. Medicaid will pay premiums and other co-payments for plans the Department finds cost effective.

IDAPA 16.03.01.280

B. The Department correctly applied the HIPP requirements in reducing the amount of reimbursed insurance premiums to Cazier

Although eligibility for the HIPP program is not at dispute here, a little background may be helpful to the Court. In this case there were originally three children who were eligible for Medicaid. It was cost effective to have them participate in the HIPP program. The Cazier's previous HIPP reimbursement was directly tied to that eligibility coupled with the cost effectiveness to the state to do so. The number of

children eligible for Medicaid reduced to one. That change in Medicaid eligibility triggered a review of the HIPP reimbursement. There is no dispute in the record that only one child remains eligible for Medicaid. Nor is there any dispute that the HIPP continues to be cost effective for the state for that one child. Cazier's argument is that the Department incorrectly applied the law in reducing the insurance reimbursement amount to the employee and one child tier. The Department disagrees.

Once the Department determined that only one child remained eligible for Medicaid it reviewed the medical insurance plan that was being reimbursed under the HIPP. The employer's insurance had various tiers of coverage. One of the tiers offered allowed the employee and one child to be covered under the plan. The insurance provider advised the Department that this tier was eligible to Wright. The Department was provided the amount of the monthly premium for the employee one child tier. The Department concluded that since the employer's insurance plan had a tier that covered the employee and one child it would be reimbursing at this rate based upon the federal guidelines listed above. The Department advised Cazier that the amount to be reimbursed under HIPP for the monthly insurance premium would be the cost of insurance coverage for the employee and one child as of October 1, 2012. ER Exhibit 1, p.98-99 (Bates 49-50).

Cazier argues that the law requires the Department to continue to pay the family tier coverage insurance premium whether or not the other members of the family are eligible. Essentially he wants the Department to continue to cover his medical insurance as well as Wright and the eligible child. He is in incorrect. The Department correctly determined that the employer's insurance could provide coverage for just the employee

(Wright) and the one child remaining eligible for Medicaid and was provided the cost of providing that coverage. ER Tr. p. 38-39 L. 21-5. ER Exhibit 2, p. 89-94 (Bates 40-45). It followed the federal law as required. If the employer's insurance did not offer the employee and one child tier as an option for coverage then the state would be required pay the family tier insurance premium, which included ineligible Medicaid members if it continued to be cost effective to do so. The Department did not have to consider this calculation as the employer was able to provide the cost of the insurance premium for the employee and one child.

C. HIPP reimbursement is not a Medicaid benefit requiring the Department to continue paying the reimbursement at the original rate pending appeal

It is not clear from Cazier's briefing whether he is actually appealing the issue of whether or not he was entitled to a notice that provided appeal notification and/or continuing payment of HIPP reimbursement at the original rate pending appeal.

In an abundance of caution the Department will address the issue of continued HIPP reimbursement at the original rate pending appeal. The Final Decision and Order found that the hearing officer wrongly concluded that HIPP reimbursements were Medicaid Benefits and subject to continuing payments during the pendency of the appeal.

The hearing officer wrongly concluded that 42 CFR §431.230 applies to the HIPP and disregarded the guidance issued by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS"). As part of the state-federal partnership in administering the Medicaid program, CMS issues guidance and federal regulations that clarify the appropriate interpretation and application of the applicable provisions. CMS provided guidance in Regional Medicaid Letter no. 94-78 concerning the applicability of hearing, notice and continuance of services provision in relation to the program at issue in this case and found that these requirements are not applicable because reimbursement of premium payments under HIPP are not deemed Medicaid "services" as that term is define in the federal regulations.

ER p. 156-157 (Bates 106-107).

The District Court affirmed the agency action in its Memorandum Opinion and Order on Motion to reconsider after review of the entire record. AR p. 100. The District Court considered the record as a whole and affirmed the agency decision based upon the statutory requirements. Idaho Code §67-5279(3), id.

CONCLUSION

On appeal, the Court must affirm the Department's decision unless one of the five conditions set forth in Idaho Code § 67-5279(1) are met. In this case, the Department did not violate constitutional or statutory provisions, did not act in excess of its authority and did not act upon an unlawful purpose. The decision of the hearing officer was supported by the substantial evidence and was not arbitrary, capricious or an abuse of discretion. Therefore, the hearing officer's decision must be affirmed.